An Overview of Barbados' Medical Tourism Industry







Version 1.0

September 2012

Rory Johnston, Valorie A. Crooks, Jeremy Snyder, Henry Fraser, Ronald Labonté, Krystyna Adams

An Overview of Barbados' Medical Tourism Industry

VERSION 1.0

RESEARCH TEAM

- Mr. Rory Johnston, PhD Student, Department of Geography, Simon Fraser University
- Dr. Valorie Crooks, Associate Professor, Department of Geography, Simon Fraser University
- Dr. Jeremy Snyder, Assistant Professor, Faculty of Health Sciences, Simon Fraser University
- Dr. Henry Fraser, Professor Emeritus, Faculty of Medical Sciences, University of the West Indies (Cave Hill)
- **Dr. Ronald Labonté**, Canada Research Chair in Globalization and Health Equity, Institute of Population Health, University of Ottawa
- Ms. Krystyna Adams, MA Student, Faculty of Health Sciences, Simon Fraser University

FUNDING SUPPORT PROVIDED BY

Canadian Institutes for Health Research



CONTACT INFORMATION

Please direct any inquiries about the content of this report to:

Rory Johnston
Department of Geography
Simon Fraser University
8888 University Drive
Burnaby, BC V5A 1S6
Canada

Email: rrj1@sfu.ca

Phone: 1 (778) 782-8917

Further information can be found at the research group's website: http://www.sfu.ca/medicaltourism/

© SFU Medical Tourism Research Group (British Columbia, Canada), 2012

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| RESEARCH TEAM | |
|---|----|
| FUNDING SUPPORT PROVIDED BY | I |
| CONTACT INFORMATION | |
| TABLE OF CONTENTS | |
| TABLE OF FIGURES | |
| 1. AN OVERVIEW OF BARBADOS | |
| 1.1 Economy | |
| 1.2 Health Equity Indicators | |
| 2. UNDERSTANDING BARBADOS' HEALTH SYSTEM | |
| 2.1 Health Human Resources | 6 |
| 2.2 Barbados' Public Health Care Facilities | 7 |
| 2.2.1 Queen Elizabeth Hospital | 7 |
| 2.2.2 Primary Care Polyclinics | 8 |
| 2.3 Key Public Health System Challenges | 8 |
| 2.4 Barbados' Private Health Care Facilities | 8 |
| 2.4.1 Bayview Hospital | 8 |
| 2.4.2 Private Primary Care Clinics | 9 |
| 2.4.3 Private Cardiology Care | 9 |
| 3. THE EMERGENCE OF MEDICAL TOURISM IN BARBADOS | 10 |
| 3.1 Historical Regional Cross-Border Care Patient Referrals | 10 |
| 3.2 2002-2008 - Early Examples of Medical Tourism Initiatives | 10 |
| 3.2.1 The Barbados Fertility Centre | 10 |
| 3.2.2 Institute for Regenerative Medicine | |
| 3.2.3 The Sparman Clinic | 12 |
| 3.2.4 Edward Healey's Hospital | 12 |
| 3.3 2008-2010 - A Concerted Push for Health and Wellness Tourism | 13 |
| 3.3.1 April 2008 Regional Health and Wellness Tourism Conference | |
| 3.3.2 2009 - Creation of the Health and Wellness Task Force | |
| 3.3.3 2010 - Barbados Health and Wellness Tourism Conference | |
| 4. EXISTING MEDICAL TOURISM SITES IN BARBADOS | |
| 4.1 Barbados Fertility Centre | |
| 4.2. Sparman Clinic | 21 |
| 4.3. Island Dialysis | 23 |
| 5. FUTURE MEDICAL TOURISM PLANS | |
| 5.1 St. Joseph Hospital Lease | |
| 5.2 The Queen Elizabeth Hospital | |
| 6. CONCLUSION | |
| 7. REFERENCES | |
| APPENDIX 1 - CONTENT ANALYSIS OF MEDIA COVERAGE OF MEDICAL TOURISM II | |
| | |
| Impacts on Health Human Resources | |
| Government Involvement in Medical Tourism | 32 |

| Foreign Investment | 34 |
|---|----|
| Impacts on Private Health Care | 35 |
| Impacts on Public Health Care | 36 |
| Other Issues | 36 |
| Key Points | 36 |
| References | |
| APPENDIX 2 – NARRATIVE SYNTHESIS OF POLICY DOCUMENTS REGARDING MED | |
| BARBADOS | |
| Impacts on Health Human Resources | |
| Government Involvement in Medical Tourism | |
| Foreign Investment | |
| Impacts on Private Health Care | |
| Impacts on Public Health Care | |
| Key Points | |
| References | |
| APPENDIX 3 – SUMMARY OF KEY AGENCIES AND ACTORS INVOLVED IN MEDICA | |
| DEVELOPMENT IN BARBADOS Medical Tourism Providers | |
| Barbados Fertility Clinic | |
| , | |
| Sparman Clinic | |
| · · | |
| Ministry of Health | |
| Ministry of Tourism | |
| Invest Barbados | |
| Non-National Organizations | |
| Caribbean Export Development Agency | |
| Trade Facilitation Office Canada | |
| The Medical Tourism Association | |
| Foreign Investors | |
| American World Clinics Barbados | |
| Global Medical Group | |
| Caribbean American Health Resorts | |
| Apollo Hospitals | |
| APPENDIX 4 – MAP OF FORMER, CURRENT, AND PLANNED MEDICAL TOURISM FA | |
| BARBADOS | 48 |

TABLE OF FIGURES

| Figure 1 - Online Advertisement for the Barbados Fertility Centre (http://www.barbadosivf.com) | 11 |
|--|----|
| Figure 2 - Exterior of the Barbados Fertility Centre (cred. Authors) | 19 |
| Figure 3 - Reception Area of Barbados Fertility Centre (cred. Authors) | 19 |
| Figure 4 - Barbados Fertility Centre Recovery Room (cred. Authors) | 20 |
| Figure 5 - Sparman Clinic Reception Area (cred. Authors) | 21 |
| Figure 6 - Sparman Clinic Inpatient Ward (cred. Authors) | 22 |
| Figure 7 - Sparman Clinic Operation Room (cred. J. Ireland) | 22 |
| Figure 8 - St. Joseph Hospital Exterior (cred. Authors) | 24 |
| Figure 9 - Emergency Intake of St. Joseph Hospital (cred. Authors) | 24 |
| Figure 10 - An Overhead View of the Proposed Facility (© 2012 - American World Clinics) | 25 |
| Figure 11 - St. Joseph Hospital Interior (cred. Authors) | 25 |

Medical tourism occurs when patients travel internationally to obtain privately-funded medical care. Medical tourism is a global practice, with hospitals and clinics in a diverse array of destination countries vying to treat such international patients. Barbados is one of these destination countries. In this document we provide an overview of Barbados' nascent medical tourism industry. This overview has been generated based on information gleaned from media and policy sources, field notes taken during site visits to public and private health care facilities in the country, immersive observational research, and informal conversations with various stakeholders in Barbados' medical tourism industry.

Our research group is interested in developing a better understanding of the health equity impacts of medical tourism on destination countries. In other words, we are interested in understanding if and how medical tourism is helpful and/or harmful to people living in destination countries and their health. Barbados is one of four countries that our work is focused on, which is why we have produced this profile. The medical tourism industries in Mexico, India, and Guatemala are also being examined. We are studying the medical tourism industries and their impacts in these countries as part of an international grant funded by the Canadian Institutes of Health Research. You can learn more about our research by visiting: www.sfu.ca/medicaltourism/.

In the sections that follow we offer some general information on Barbados and its health system before going into detail about key developments in its medical tourism industry. Complementing the main text, four Appendices provide additional detailed insights. Appendix 1 offers a synthesis of media coverage of medical tourism in Barbados' main newspapers in recent years. In Appendix 2 we share a summary of policy documents central to medical tourism in Barbados. In both of these Appendices we consider five health equity indicators most often discussed in the medical tourism literature: (1) impacts on health human resources; (2) government involvement in the industry; (3) foreign investment in the industry; (4) impacts on private health care; and (5) impacts on public health care. In Appendix 3 we provide a succinct summary of the key actors and facilities involved in medical tourism in Barbados. Finally, a map of medical tourism facilities in the country is provided in Appendix 4.

1. AN OVERVIEW OF BARBADOS

Barbados is an independent, democratic English-speaking country in the Caribbean and is a member of The Commonwealth of Nations. In 2011, Barbados was designated a developed country by the United Nations, with a Human Development Index score of 0.793 (UNDP, 2011).

The most easterly island in the Caribbean, Barbados is small and densely populated, with an estimated 287,000 people inhabiting its 431 square kilometers (Barbados, 2012b) and an annual population growth rate of 0.3% (U.S. Department of State, 2010). The capital city, Bridgetown, is located on the southern coast and houses the main public hospital, Queen Elizabeth Hospital. Barbados is very densely populated, with the majority of the population and infrastructure found on the island's south and west coasts. The northern and eastern regions are comparatively sparsely populated and have fewer industries and services than the core southern region (Barbados, 2012b).

Historically, settlers to Barbados farmed tobacco, cotton and sugar cane. The production of sugar in particular brought changes in both the economic landscape and demographic makeup of the country (Government Information Service, n.d.). These past demographic changes still inform the make-up of the country's population, wherein approximately 90% of residents are of African descent (U.S. Department of State, 2010). Barbados moved away from a reliance on agriculture and manufacturing as its primary industries in the 1960s, mobilizing development towards its nascent tourism and financial services industries that predominate today (Barbados, 2012a).

Politically, Barbados is a multiparty democracy, divided into 11 parishes (Barbados Tourism Authority, 2011). Two political parties dominate the political workings of the country, the Democratic Labour Party and the Barbados Labour Party, and each has had recent opportunities to form the country's government over the past ten years (Barbados, 2012a). A federal election is held every four to five years (Barbados, 2012b).

1.1 Economy

Barbados' Gross Domestic Product is approximately USD\$3,685 billion, with a growth rate of 0.5% (Barbados 2012b; World Bank 2012). As of 2007, the average per capita income was USD\$7,350 (Central Bank of Barbados, 2007). In 2011, the unemployment rate was 10.2% (BSS 2012), an increase of 1.4% from mid-2008 (Barbados Ministry of Finance, 2008). The country's primary economic sectors are: tourism, government, manufacturing, construction, mining, agriculture and fishing (Barbados Ministry of Finance, 2008).

Tourism is the primary force behind economic and employment growth in Barbados, representing roughly 25% of the country's Gross Domestic Product and attracting expenditure of USD\$1.01 billion in 2006 (Government of Barbados, 2010). The United Kingdom, the United States, Caribbean Community (CARICOM) countries, and Canada provide the greatest number of visitors to the country (Barbados Ministry of Tourism, 2006), with rates of visitors from these countries and regions still growing (Barbados Ministry of Finance, 2008). The greatest numbers of tourists to Barbados arrive for holiday, health, recreation or business reasons (Barbados Ministry of Tourism, 2006). In 2006, the tourism industry employed approximately 13,600 people, 63% of whom are women (Barbados Ministry of Tourism, 2006).

1.2 Health Equity Indicators

Measures of gender equity in Barbados are generally positive. Gender equality exists within primary and secondary levels of education, and more women than men are enrolled in post-secondary education (UN Economic and Social Council, 2007). An estimated half of all managers, professional and technical workers in the country are female (UN Economic and Social Council, 2007). However, equal pay for equal work has not been universally achieved, and female-headed households continue to battle poverty (UN Economic and Social Council, 2007). According to Social Watch's Gender Equity Index, which is measured across three dimensions (economic activity, empowerment, and education), Barbados ranks sixth out of the top ten countries in the world for having the best Gender Equity Index ratings (Social Watch, 2007). In comparison, Canada ranks 17th overall (Social Watch, 2007).

Access to education is an important determinant of health. As such, education levels are used by many international agencies to determine equity rates across a broad range of indicators. Barbados' public education system funds primary, secondary and tertiary schooling. Primary education includes nursery and junior schooling for students 3-11 years old. Secondary schools provide classes for 9-18 year old students, with mandatory attendance until age 16. Two additional schools provide education to students with particular special needs or with visual and hearing impairments. Tertiary schools, or post-secondary institutions, provide further academic and technical training. 89.5% of women and 87.6% of men have completed at least a secondary school education in Barbados (UNDP 2011). The literacy rate in Barbados is near universal at 97% (Government Information Service, Barbados, 2009).

Having access to employment is linked directly and indirectly to health. In Barbados, 66% of the adult population participates in the active labour force (BSS, 2012). Out of the active adult labour force, 65.3% of men and 54.7% of women were employed in 2011 (BSS, 2012). The three largest employment

industries for Barbadians are the wholesale and retail trade industry (15.8% of employed persons), the accommodation and food services industries (10.7%), and the construction, mining and quarrying industries (12.4%) (BSS, 2012).

Health indicators in Barbados show that the population is generally healthy. Very recent estimates place life expectancy at birth as 74.52 years, and the infant mortality rate as 11.63 per 1000 live births (Barbados, 2012b). In 2010, the maternal mortality ratio was 51 per 100,000 live births (Barbados, 2012b). Under-5 mortality sits at 13.5 per 1000 live births for both sexes (PAHO, 2001). Barbados also reports high rates of immunizations for children (PAHO, 2008). For adults, heart disease and diabetes mellitus are leading causes of death (PAHO, 2008). 2009 estimates indicate that among Barbadian adults, HIV prevalence is at 1.4% and death due to HIV/AIDS is less than 100 per year (Barbados, 2012b). Chronic disease represents the greatest burden of disease in the country, and the prevalence (19.4% of adults 40 years of age and older) of diabetes in the country is cause for concern (Adams & Carter, 2011).

2. UNDERSTANDING BARBADOS' HEALTH SYSTEM

In 1969 the Health Services Act was established in Barbados (PAHO, 2008). Since then, Barbados' Ministry of Health has been responsible for overseeing public health care. The Ministry of Health has sole responsibility for managing the delivery of health care, policy-making and the regulation of the health sector (PAHO, 2008). Barbados also has a strong and active public health care system. Money entering this public system is contributed through public taxation and private financing through fee-for-service, health insurance, and other types of out-of-pocket expenditures (e.g., pooled insurance funds) (PAHO, 2008).

The health system in Barbados incorporates both public and private financing and provision of medical care. All citizens are insured through a public health insurance scheme that guarantees financial access to needed medical care. Publicly insured services are available across the primary-to-tertiary care spectrum for the entire population and are free of cost at the point of service (PAHO, 2008). Local health workers face no restrictions on committing to work in either the public or private system to the exclusion of the other, and thus are free to spend their time working privately and/or publicly.

The public health care system has historically been the largest provider of care to Barbadians, representing roughly 60% of total health expenditure in the country before 2001 (PAHO, 2008). Since 2000, the nominal value of public spending has remained steady but as a proportion, public spending on health care has diminished dramatically. 30% of the total number of health dollars now spent are publicly funded while 70% is through private financing (PAHO, 2008). The increasing health care privatization in the country has been attributed to the lack of availability of tertiary care services in the 1990s in particular, which in part led to the establishment of privatized cardiac care clinics in the early 2000s (PAHO, 2008). There has also been a significant expansion of privatized clinical laboratories and long-term residential care homes in recent years (PAHO, 2008).

Barbadians regularly seek care in both the private and public systems. Care in the private system is generally sought middle and high income earners, many of whom have private health insurance (PAHO, 2008). Non-Barbadians are not permitted to access non-emergency medical care within the public system, and must rely on services in the private sector to meet the majority of their needs (Singh, 2011; The Daily Nation, 2011). While available to all Barbadians, public primary care is most commonly used by low-income individuals and families, with private primary care greatly preferred by those with the financial means to access it as it is perceived to be quicker to access and of higher quality. Private secondary and tertiary care services are also regularly accessed by Barbadians seeking to avoid wait

lists or desiring care perceived to be of a higher quality. However, private medical care in Barbados is limited in scope, not having the same full suite of specialty services as are found in the public system, especially with regard to multi-specialty surgical treatments and intensive care (PAHO, 2008). This serves to keep intensive surgical and emergency care services within the public health system at the Queen Elizabeth Hospital, with more demanding cardiology procedures only just beginning to emerge in the private sector (Carter, 2009; PAHO, 2008).

2.1 Health Human Resources

Health human resource planning in Barbados has been shaped by responses to shortages in key areas. In 2005 Barbados had 18 physicians per 10,000 people (Barbados, 2012b), which is comparable with Canada's current ratio of 20 per 10,000 (WHO, 2012). However, severe specialist shortages exist in undersubscribed domains of care such as podiatry, radiology, psychiatry, and medical oncology, wherein the public health care system has had to recruit physicians to meet patient needs (Campbell et al., 2008; PAHO, 2008). In 2008, the University of the West Indies, Cave Hill campus in Barbados opened a medical sciences faculty capable of training physicians (UWI, 2012). It is thought that the opening of this training facility may assist with meeting Barbados' health worker needs if adequate numbers of physicians can be trained and choose to remain in Barbados. Historically, physicians in the English-speaking Caribbean have been educated primarily at University of the West Indies' Mona campus in Jamaica, and have returned to their home countries, including Barbados, for their residencies and to practice (UWI, 2012).

In the early 2000s, Barbados faced severe nursing shortages in several areas (PAHO, 2008). Between 1999 and 2003, Barbados experienced a 17% national decline in the number of available nurses, with the country having 37 nurses per 10,000 people in 2000 (PAHO, 2008). As with many other English-speaking Caribbean nations, Barbados faces attrition of its nursing staff through emigration to the United States, Canada, and the United Kingdom, and in the short term has relied on the importation of nurses from Nigeria and the Philippines to meet its own health system needs (PAHO, 2008). Currently, Barbados has 49 nurses and midwives per 10,000 people, in comparison with Canada's rate of 104 per 10,000 people (WHO, 2012). In response to the need for a greater number of nurses in the country, the Government of Barbados increased the number of annual training spots from 90 to 120, and lowered the age of admission to the nursing program from 18 to 16 years old (PAHO, 2008). The increased size of the most recent graduating cohorts may have begun to address the nursing shortfall (Ministry of Health, 2009). Shortages in several related key areas remain, including occupational therapy, physical therapy, and other health disciplines (PAHO, 2008).

2.2 Barbados' Public Health Care Facilities

The Queen Elizabeth Hospital is the main public health care facility in Barbados, along with four district hospitals for geriatric care, a mental health hospital, two small rehabilitation facilities, an AIDS Hostel, a children's development centre, and a nutrition centre (Canadian Trade Commissioner Service, 2010). There are also eight polyclinics (primary care clinics) throughout the country.

2.2.1 Queen Elizabeth Hospital

Opened in 1964 and with 581 inpatient beds, the Queen Elizabeth Hospital is the largest and most comprehensively equipped facility in the country (QEH, 2012a). The hospital has a full suite of diagnostic services, an intensive care unit, and provides a variety of surgical services (QEH, 2012b). The quality of care at the Queen Elizabeth Hospital is well regarded in the Caribbean and is a point of pride for Barbadians. Despite this, the hospital infrastructure is in need of significant renovation and investment (Brandford, 2012; Moore, 2012). The two main political parties in the country have both made the reinvigoration of the hospital a key platform promise in recent election campaigns, but little progress has been made in rebuilding the facility (Brandford, 2012). Recent announcements by the current government suggest that the country may see an USD \$400 million public facility being built to replace the Queen Elizabeth Hospital, but it is difficult to assess the likelihood of these plans being realized (Brandford, 2012).

While the orientation of the Queen Elizabeth Hospital is primarily towards providing publicly insured, necessary care to Barbadian citizens, the hospital does have private rooms available to privately paying patients. The hospital also allows private admitting privileges to physicians who wish to treat privately paying patients at the facility. This infrastructure has permitted the emergence of international private care referral networks within the Caribbean region. International patients from elsewhere in the Caribbean seeking the services of particular physicians or specialties at the Queen Elizabeth Hospital have long traveled to Barbados for private treatment, and this longstanding regional medical care mobility serves as a precursor to the wider, more international medical tourism industry being developed in the country (Walters et al., 1993). Significantly, medical tourism has factored into the planning of the new facility proposed to replace the Queen Elizabeth Hospital. Policy documents and news discussions have raised the potential for the hospital to be built to meet the standards of international accreditation agencies and to include a separate medical tourism ward. These considerations may formally orient a portion of the hospital's planning towards attracting and serving international patients paying privately (CEDA, 2008; Ministry of Health, 2008; Ministry of Health, 2009).

2.2.2 Primary Care Polyclinics

Eight primary care polyclinics operate in Barbados. These clinics offer walk-in primary care services to Barbadians free of charge at the point of service. Staffed by nurses and primary care physicians, the polyclinics form the backbone of Barbados' public primary care sector (PAHO, 2008). The Ministry of Health in Barbados is working to shift the focus of future public health investments away from expensive curative health services and towards more affordable and efficient preventative services, of which the polyclinic system will perform a key role (PAHO, 2008).

2.3 Key Public Health System Challenges

Several key challenges within Barbados' public health care system have been observed, including a lack of confidence in public primary care services among the public, limited access to care, and long waiting lists for complex medical procedures at the public hospital (PAHO, 2008). Until 2009, there was no policy on quality assurance within the health sector, as well as limited means of data collection to assess performance (PAHO, 2008). These data shortages serve as limitations to addressing system challenges. As discussed previously, the health sector has a major shortage of health workers, particularly in medical, nursing, physical therapy, and occupational therapy.

2.4 Barbados' Private Health Care Facilities

Barbados' private health care sector includes one private hospital, Bayview Hospital, as well as pharmaceutical, laboratory, diagnostic, dental, reproductive and physical therapy services (Canadian Trade Commissioner Service, 2010).

2.4.1 Bayview Hospital

Bayview Hospital is Barbados' only private hospital, and was founded in 1989. With 20 inpatient beds and a surgical suite, Bayview focuses on the provision of a range of services to the private paying population of Barbados, including primary care, diagnostics, and single-specialty surgical care (Bayview Hospital, 2012). Bayview also serves as the primary service provider to non-Barbadians who fall ill in the country, and has agreements with many cruise line companies to provide medical care to ill vacationers (Gonzales et al., 2001). Bayview's management currently views the current supply of nurses in the country as sufficient to meet their needs, although they also experienced a nursing shortage prior to the increase in training opportunities at University of the West Indies. The only current worker shortage at the facility that has been reported is that of midwives.

Bayview Hospital has not traditionally sought to attract medical tourists, nor does it have any plans to do so. Management at the facility is aware of the inability of Bayview to compete with established international providers in the Caribbean region both in terms of price and quality. However, the potential for medical tourism has been explored at the facility numerous times in its history. Most recently, a group of American orthopedic surgeons contacted Bayview to explore the possibility of establishing a relationship with the facility, in which they would travel with their patients to the facility to perform surgeries on site, an offer similar to one made by a team of Canadian orthopedic surgeons in the past. These kinds of plans are not unique. In the history of the facility, individual cosmetic and orthopedic surgeons from Canada and the United States have repeatedly explored the possibility of offshoring their services at Bayview. The owners of the Bayview Hospital recently sought offers for the purchase of the facility, which resulted in speculation in the local news media that the Government of Barbados had approached Bayview with interest in purchasing the facility and operating it as a medical tourism destination in partnership with the nearby Hilton Hotel (Slinger, 2012). These rumors were in turn denied by government representatives and no such arrangement has been formally announced to-date.

2.4.2 Private Primary Care Clinics

Private primary care is well established throughout Barbados. The majority of family practices and walk-in primary care clinics throughout the country are physician owned and operated and are remunerated through private insurance plans or cash payments at the point of service (PAHO, 2008). Similarly, ophthalmologic and dental services are privately provided in Barbados and have served to long expose Barbadians to the private purchase of medical care.

2.4.3 Private Cardiology Care

Recent news reports suggest that Barbados has shifted towards the private sector in its delivery of cardiologic care. Three private clinics have emerged in the past decade to offer cardiologic care to Barbadians: Warrens Care Centre, Bracebridge Medical Centre, and the Sparman Clinic (Carter, 2009). This latter clinic has been noted as a medical tourism destination in news reports and government policy documents as it has used online advertising to attract international patients to undergo cardiac surgeries at its facility (Invest Barbados, 2010; Ministry of Health 2009; Online Medical Tourism, 2012).

3. THE EMERGENCE OF MEDICAL TOURISM IN BARBADOS

3.1 Historical Regional Cross-Border Care Patient Referrals

Barbados has long been an exporter of health services within the Eastern Caribbean region. International patients have traveled to the Queen Elizabeth Hospital through both formal cross-border care arrangements between national health systems in the region, and informal, patient-initiated journeys (Gonzales et al., 2001; Walters et al., 1993). These trips have largely been for consultations and treatments by specialists that are unavailable in their home countries. The structure of medical training in the Caribbean has facilitated the development of these international referral networks between physicians in the region. The centralized training environment, historically based at the medical school at the University of the West Indies' Jamaica campus, combined with residency positions at facilities throughout the Caribbean, has resulted in Caribbean physicians having an awareness of the availability, types, and quality of specialties outside of the national systems they practice in.

3.2 2002-2008 - Early Examples of Medical Tourism Initiatives

Medical tourism has emerged in Barbados as a coherent planning concept over the past decade. Early efforts to market medical services to foreign patients have been defined by small specialty clinics marketing their services to both local and foreign patients.

3.2.1 The Barbados Fertility Centre

Dr. Juliet Skinner, a Barbadian national trained in Ireland, opened the Barbados Fertility Centre in 2002 (BFC, 2012). The idea of exporting fertility services to foreign patients was spurred by the absence of any comparable services within the country and the requirement of a larger patient base than Barbados has available with which to render such a venture viable. International patient recruitment through the Internet was incorporated into the business model of the facility from the outset. This resulted in the successful recruitment of international patients from the United States and the United Kingdom within the first year of operation. The Centre quickly established a positive reputation within Barbados and internationally, originally drawing the majority of its international patients from the United Kingdom and Europe.



FIGURE 1 - ONLINE ADVERTISEMENT FOR THE BARBADOS FERTILITY CENTRE (http://www.barbadosivf.com)

The Barbados Fertility Centre received modest support from the national government at the time of its opening. Incentives from the Tourism Development Act were extended to the importation of medical equipment, allowing the facility to avoid paying customs duties. The government also permitted the clinic to use 'Barbados' in its facility name, a marketing benefit normally reserved for publicly owned companies. No other public benefits are reported to have been provided to the facility.

3.2.2 Institute for Regenerative Medicine

2002 also marked the year in which the Institute for Regenerative Medicine opened on the sparsely populated east coast of Barbados (Price, 2007). Like the Barbados Fertility Centre, this facility also focused its business plan around the export of medical services to international clientele. The Institute marketed unproven stem cell 'therapies' to patients seeking treatment for a host of unrelated chronic diseases, including diabetes, arthritis, and cancer (Hill, 2006). The facility operated until 2006, when a British Broadcasting Corporation investigative account of activities at the Institute was released (Hill, 2006). The report detailed numerous criminal accusations concerning the importation of stem cells harvested from viable newborns bought in the Ukraine, prompting the operators of the Institute to leave the country in haste (Price, 2007). The charges against the Institute's operators remain unresolved and the

accounts of the facility's criminal behaviour highlighted an existing lack of regulatory oversight of Barbados' nascent medical tourism industry.

3.2.3 The Sparman Clinic

Opened in 2004 in Bridgetown, the Sparman Clinic is a specialty cardiac clinic that is run by the American trained Alfred Sparman. Originally housed in a small converted home, the clinic has sought to attract medical tourists from its opening. While the Sparman Clinic has regularly been cited in relation to medical tourism in both news media coverage and policy documents (e.g., Carter, 2009; Ministry of Health, 2009), it is unclear how successful the clinic has been at attracting international patients for elective surgeries, especially in its early years of operation.

3.2.4 Edward Healey's Hospital

Between 2004 and 2010, a prolonged and ultimately fruitless effort to build a mid-sized private hospital on the west coast of Barbados was pursued by the wealthy British expatriate and Barbados resident Edward Healey. Projected to have 74 inpatient beds, the hospital was seen by Healey as a project that would improve access to medical services on the west coast, an area with a large population of tourists, expatriates, and vacation homeowners, as well as to provide needed competition for surgical services in Barbados' private health market (Sealy, 2007). Healey was able to secure private financing for the construction of the hospital and purchased the necessary land, with the intent of incorporating a training facility affiliated with the University of the West Indies Cave Hill campus in Barbados (The Daily Nation, 2004).

Following these initial steps, development of the hospital stalled. Healey recruited the Indian hospital chain Apollo Hospitals to manage the planning and eventual operation of the facility (D'Silva, 2007). The Apollo managers sought to improve the viability and profitability of the prospective hospital by shifting its focus away from Barbados' small, and arguably saturated, domestic market towards offering services to medical tourists from the United States, with Barbadians forming a smaller portion of the hospital's patient base. This shift in focus conflicted with Healey's original vision for a facility that only tangentially sought to attract medical tourists, but whose primary purpose was to serve Barbadian citizens and residents. The disagreement over the goals and market of the hospital contributed to an impasse that ultimately doomed the project.

Significantly, the period in which the planning for Healey's hospital took place occurred during a transition in which medical tourism in Barbados moved from a relatively minor to a more prominent policy and planning position within the country. While public accounts of this hospital are extremely limited, the

arrival of Apollo Hospitals, a large, internationally recognized practitioner and proponent of medical tourism, to such a small nation coincides with the start of a serious shift in planning and international investor recruitment by the Barbadian government. This shift has focused on supporting the development of the medical tourism industry in Barbados.

3.3 2008-2010 - A Concerted Push for Health and Wellness Tourism

Between 2008 and 2010 several key events and initiatives transpired regarding the development of Barbados' medical tourism sector, albeit primarily focusing on health and wellness tourism. The impact of these events remains significant.

3.3.1 April 2008 Regional Health and Wellness Tourism Conference

In the spring of 2008, the Caribbean Export Develop Agency co-hosted a regional conference with the Trade Facilitation Office of Canada in Barbados on health and wellness tourism in Bridgetown. Health and wellness tourism is a blanket term that includes medical tourism activities as well as non-surgical, alternative treatments, spa facilities, yoga, and other health improvement activities. Titled "Exporting Services to Canada Seminar and Health and Wellness Tourism Strategy Session", the meeting brought together 80 government representatives, health planners, service sector unions, and health and wellness service providers from 13 countries in the Caribbean (CEDA, 2008). In addition to regional attendance, the conference hosted speakers from established medical tourism destinations, including Malaysia, Cuba, and the Dominican Republic, to share their experiences of developing a health and wellness tourism sector. The goal of the meeting was to educate stakeholders in the health and wellness sector about the potential of health and wellness tourism, and to develop a coordinated strategy for the region that could work to position the Caribbean as an international hub for exporting health and wellness services internationally, including surgical services more traditionally associated with medical tourism (CEDA, 2008). Barbados' Ministers of Health and Tourism attended the conference, both of whom served as featured speakers.

At the time of the conference, Barbados and other Caribbean nations reliant on their tourism sectors were experiencing severe declines in visits by recreational tourists as a result of the ongoing financial crisis in the global economy (Jamaica Observer, 2012). In this context, health and wellness tourism was framed as a key area for economic diversification in service sectors as it was believed to be poised for rapid growth on a global scale (Geralyn, 2008). The estimates of the Deloitte and McKinsey reports ("Medical Tourism: Emerging phenomenon in health care industry, 2008; "Mapping the market for medical travel,"2008), though often criticized as unreliable, were cited by conference organizers as

evidence of the large global health and wellness market available for the Caribbean to benefit from (CEDA, 2008). The conference concluded with recommendations that countries: (1) assess their current capacity for health service export on the international market in both their public and private health sectors; (2) focus on establishing internationally recognized standards of quality for facilities and personnel; and (3) regionally coordinate to build an internationally recognizable and respected Caribbean brand of health and wellness tourism (CEDA, 2008).

The 2008 conference was successful in spurring policy development for future medical tourism initiatives in Barbados. An important outcome of the seminar was the positioning medical tourism as a specific domain within a wider spectrum of health and wellness tourism services, including spa tourism, culinary tourism, sports tourism, and assisted residential tourism. This has resulted in the more general term 'health tourism' being adopted in most media and policy documents in Barbados, even in the discussion of activities more specifically relating to medical tourism (e.g. Ministry of Health, 2009; Invest Barbados, 2010). As a result, the lines between activities promoting medical tourism specifically and health tourism more generally have been blurred. While Barbados has embraced the pursuit of an expanded health and wellness tourism industry, including medical tourism, the conflation of health and medical tourism has at times made it more difficult to discern what subsectors in particular planners hope to develop and regulate.

3.3.2 2009 - Creation of the Health and Wellness Task Force

Building from the momentum created by the Health and Wellness Strategy Session, Barbados' Ministry of Health spearheaded the creation of the Health and Wellness Task Force (Moore, 2008). The creation of the Task Force and the leading role of the Ministry of Health in Barbados has been informed by Malaysia's example, in which the Malaysian Ministry of Health played a key role in organizing and promoting the medical tourism industry in the country (Ministry of Health, 2008). While Barbados has explicitly identified its desire that growth of the health and wellness tourism sector be privately led, the Cabinet of Barbados approved the formation of the Health and Wellness Task Force in December of 2008 to provide assistance and oversight to the expansion of the industry (Ministry of Health, 2008). This inter-ministerial working group has been led by the Ministry of Health and has representatives from the Ministries of Tourism, Finance, and Economic Affairs, as well as the Caribbean Export Development Agency, Barbados Association of Medical Practitioners, Barbados Hotel and Tourism Association, Solicitor General's Office, and Invest Barbados (Ministry of Health, 2009).

The Health and Wellness Task Force was approved by the Barbadian cabinet to provide guidance on a number of issues seen as vital to the development of the country's health and wellness tourism sector, and it continues to exist to this day. The task force aims, first, to detail Barbados' commitments and obligations under existing international trade agreements as they relate to health and wellness tourism. The General Agreement on Trade in Services, the Trade Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights agreement, the Technical Barriers to Trade agreement, and the International Health Regulation Agreement have been identified as relevant to the operation of a larger medical tourism sector (Ministry of Health, 2009).

Second, the Task Force aims to create an incentive framework with which to spur investment and encourage participation by both domestic and foreign health care providers. Medical tourism has not been singled out exclusively in discussions of potential incentive frameworks, although India's incentive framework for its medical tourism industry has been raised in discussions of how Barbados should proceed (Invest Barbados, 2010). Potential incentives include tax exemption for the import of medical equipment, suspension of costs associated with the establishment of a new company or the reorganization of existing companies looking to provide new services, exemption from real estate and sales tax for a company's early years, and the creation of foreign direct investment incentives for foreign corporations and medical providers establishing health and wellness tourism services in the country (Invest Barbados, 2010). Existing legislation that has encouraged the development of the country's tourism industry through tax-waiver incentives is likely to be expanded to include the health and wellness tourism industry (Invest Barbados, 2010; Ministry of Health, 2009). The Task Force has also consulted with existing stakeholders in the country. These consultations have resulted in an awareness amongst policy makers of a desire for grants or soft loans from the government to support international accreditation of providers, educational incentives to aid staff training, incentives for private providers that offer free services to Barbadians, and the creation of medical visas to facilitate the entry of medical tourists (Invest Barbados, 2010).

Third, in order to ensure that the growth of the health and wellness tourism industry benefits Barbadian services and manufacturers, the Task Force aims to facilitate linkages between emerging health tourism providers and Barbadian companies and organizations. The Barbados Association of Medical Practitioners was identified as a key organization that the Task Force would work to cultivate connections with the emerging medical tourism sector (Ministry of Health, 2009).

Fourth, there is interest in creating a regulatory and legislative framework with which to oversee health and wellness tourism providers and ensure their practices accord with international standards.

Regulatory measures being developed in Barbados are aimed at the creation of standards in the complementary and alternative medicine and wider 'wellness' sectors, where professionalization is weak or absent. The Health and Wellness Task Force has been in the process of creating a National Health Care Quality Council, a body comprised of health practitioners and service sector representatives since 2009, although the council has yet to be officially formed. The Council has been charged with creating and enforcing standards in these under-regulated sectors, as well as more established areas such as for medical doctors. A primary concern for Barbados and the Task Force is the creation of a trusted national brand in the health and wellness sector, as breaches in professional standards in one service could undermine the reputation of the sector as a whole (Ministry of Health, 2009). Barbados is looking to ensure all practitioners providing care to international clientele are internationally accredited, a position that holds implications for the developments of its medical tourism industry (Ministry of Health, 2009).

Fifth, the Task Force aims to market Barbados' health tourism services internationally, through the Internet, trade missions, informal networks with international reporters, and the cultivation of relationships between international and domestic professionals. The Task Force has identified three main avenues of marketing the industry to international patients. These are through the development of referral networks with health service providers in other nations, strategic contact with international reporters to encourage uptake of stories about medical tourism in the country, and the possibility of amending medical service advertising within the country so as to make it easier for providers to market their services (Ministry of Health, 2009).

Sixth, the creation of real-time information systems across the health and wellness sector to facilitate informed decision-making by consumers, providers, and policy-makers, has been planned by the Ministry of Health. The health and wellness tourism sector is to be included in pre-existing plans by the Ministry of Health to develop a national Health Information System, with which to better track measures relevant to the operation of the country's health system. It is unclear what metrics will be accounted for or how participation will be ensured (Ministry of Health, 2009).

Seventh, the Task Force is pursuing the creation of a coordinating organization for the health and wellness tourism sector. It is anticipated that this body will be responsible for overseeing quality and accreditation, professional licensing, and the amendment of legislation to permit the marketing of medical services (Ministry of Health, 2009). It is unclear how this yet-unformed and unnamed body would interact with the National Health Care Quality Council.

Finally, there is interest in creating skills-development strategies for Barbadians to ensure the necessary human resources are attuned to health tourism and available. Developing human resources relevant to medical tourism has not been specifically identified in policy documents, but most broadly, the task force aims to improve the quality of training at local colleges and polytechnics and raise awareness amongst service providers of opportunities in the health tourism sector.

According to the Task Force, four challenges inform the goal of a larger health tourism industry in Barbados. These challenges are:

- Quality and Accreditation: Barbados has recognized the general lack of international accreditation of its services, and is aiming to develop regulations that will see international standards adopted by all providers (Ministry of Health, 2009).
- 2. Emergence of a 'Dual' Health System: Planners have recognized the capacity of a larger medical tourism sector to negatively impact access to quality medical care by locals. The policy documents reviewed call for studies of the precise mechanisms through which locals may be negatively impacted and the creation of preventative measures and regulations to prevent these impacts from occurring (Ministry of Health, 2009).
- Health Human Resource Supply: Barbados' supply of health providers has been described as being afflicted by shortages amongst all professional groups, shortages which have been primarily attributed to the emigration of professionals (Ministry of Health, 2009).
- 4. International Portability of Health Insurance: Barriers to the international portability of health insurance have been cited as a major obstruction to a larger medical tourism industry in Barbados (Ministry of Health, 2009). The Task Force has suggested facilitating connections between Barbadian providers and insurance companies outside of the country to try and attract patients to the country (Ministry of Health, 2009).

As earlier efforts by private medical providers to attract international patients were defined by their lack of coordination and government support, the mobilization of the Health and Wellness Task Force in Barbados represents a major shift in the approach of the Barbadian government towards its medical tourism industry. Since the formation of the Task Force, the government of Barbados has begun the process of establishing the National Health Care Quality Council to oversee its health and wellness tourism sector, attended multiple international medical tourism trade shows, held a national seminar on health and wellness tourism, and signed a major property lease between the national government and an American investment group developing a hospital oriented towards medical tourism in the country (see

section 5.1). This degree of support and engagement is in marked contrast to the earlier lack of involvement and ambivalence the Barbadian government demonstrated towards the country's medical tourism sector.

3.3.3 2010 - Barbados Health and Wellness Tourism Conference

The interest and connections generated at the regional seminar in 2008 (see section 3.3.1) culminated in a second conference in Barbados on health and wellness tourism in March, 2010. This second meeting was limited to public and private sector stakeholders in Barbados' health and wellness sector and was titled: "Barbados, An International Health & Wellness Destination: Educated. Sophisticated. Regulated." The seminar saw 120 attendees from secondary and postsecondary education institutions, government ministries, and the private health sector participate in strategy seminars. Significantly, records from the meeting show that representatives from the facilities understood by the government as offering medical tourism services at the time, the Sparman Clinic and the Barbados Fertility Centre, were not in attendance, in spite of medical tourism being one focus of the seminar. The meeting proceedings demonstrate that it was primarily a vehicle to communicate the goals of the Health and Wellness Task Force to stakeholders of Barbados' health and wellness tourism sector (No Author, 2010). This is consistent with the government's expressed desire to have the expansion of the industry be private sector led, restricting its role to that of a facilitator and catalyst (Ministry of Health, 2009).

4. EXISTING MEDICAL TOURISM SITES IN BARBADOS

There are two existing medical tourism facilities in Barbados, the Barbados Fertility Centre and the Sparman Clinic. A third facility, Island Dialysis, is frequently raised in relation to health and wellness tourism more broadly on the island.

4.1 Barbados Fertility Centre

Founded in 2002, the Barbados
Fertility Centre is a small outpatient
clinic located in a renovated colonial
home on the heavily populated south
coast. The clinic employs one
gynecologist specializing in fertility

treatments and five nurses. All but one of the health workers at the clinic, a



FIGURE 2 - EXTERIOR OF THE BARBADOS FERTILITY CENTRE (CRED. AUTHORS)

nurse, was trained outside of Barbados, with the other nurses having been trained in the United States and the United Kingdom. The clinic originally operated out of existing private facilities on the island, including Bayview Hospital, until 2005, when the Barbados Fertility Centre moved to its current location. The Barbados Fertility Centre was created with medical tourism in mind, recognizing the challenges that



FIGURE 3 - RECEPTION AREA OF BARBADOS FERTILITY CENTRE (CRED. AUTHORS)

Barbados' small population posed to the financial viability of a fertility specialist clinic. The Barbados
Fertility Centre received medical tourists in its first year of operation, the first being a regional patient from Trinidad. The Centre received a number of benefits from the government at the time of its opening, including assistance in receiving work permits, the waiving

of customs duties on the import of medical equipment, and the right to use 'Barbados' in the name of the facility, a benefit normally reserved for public corporations.

The facility is small and practitioner owned, with no foreign stakes in the clinic. The clinic has four outpatient beds in a post-implantation recovery room, an embryology laboratory, offices, and an operating room for fertility procedures. Signage in the facility is in English. Advertising on the clinic grounds is limited to brochures and pamphlets in reception and waiting rooms throughout the building. There are no advertisements for the facility's services posted in the building or on the grounds. Patient testimonials are also not prominently posted anywhere aside from the pamphlets and brochures, although photos of babies successfully conceived at the facility are posted on a cork board and in a number of photo albums in the main reception area.

The Barbados Fertility Centre employs 'in-vitro fertilization nurse coordinators' as care coordinators for both international and local patients. Nurse coordinators are assigned when prospective patients make initial contact with the facility. Three internationally trained nurses are solely used for international patients, with one locally trained nurse assigned to Barbadian and other Caribbean patients. This arrangement is believed to better align cultural attitudes and expectations between care providers and patients and improve the delivery of care. The Barbados Fertility Centre has created satellite clinics in Antigua, St. Maarten, and Trinidad that provide pre-implantation screening for residents in these countries.

Joint Commission International, an American-based international hospital accrediting agency, has

accredited the Barbados Fertility
Centre for the past five years. The
accreditation most was most recently
renewed in January, 2011. Framed
certificates from Joint Commission
International are displayed in both the
reception area and the patient
recovery room. During a tour of the
facility, it was noted that prior to
receiving Joint Commission
International accreditation some



FIGURE 4 - BARBADOS FERTILITY CENTRE RECOVERY ROOM (CRED. AUTHORS)

patients were wary of the legitimacy of the clinic.

Medical tourists comprise the bulk of the Barbados Fertility Centre's patient base, representing roughly 80% of its clientele. Of this 80%, roughly half are from within the Caribbean region and the

other half from the United States, Canada, the United Kingdom, and Continental Europe. Most patients come from the Caribbean region, United States, and United Kingdom. Medical tourists represent an increasing share of patients treated at the facility each year, and it is estimated that the clinic received roughly 260 medical tourists in 2011. This is a marked increase over the previous year, estimated at roughly 130% more medical tourists in 2011 than 2010.

While medical tourists are a large portion of the clinic's business, they are not offered any special wards or services that local patients are not. Medical tourists are charged 15% more than local patients if they are from outside of the Caribbean, and 10% more if they are regional patients from outside of Barbados. Recreational and wellness tourism are routinely incorporated into patients' itineraries as the clinic partially attributes their high success rates to the low-stress tourist environment that Barbados provides. The clinic has connections with hotels, complementary and alternative medical providers, and tour operators in Barbados, and the Barbados Fertility Centre regularly refers their patients to them.

The Barbados Fertility Centre has been critical in demonstrating the viability of medical tourism in Barbados. It has been identified in policy documents outlining plans for the sector, and Dr. Skinner has

attended international meetings as a Barbadian representative of the country's medical tourism sector.

4.2. Sparman Clinic

The Sparman Clinic opened in 2004 in central Bridgetown. It moved to its current Bridgetown location, a home renovated to serve as a medical facility at a reported cost of USD \$20 million, in 2009 (Carter, 2009). The facility is privately owned, with clinic's primary practitioner, Dr. Alfred Sparman, owning the majority of shares. The clinic has not received any support, financial or otherwise, from the Barbados government in its establishment or its operations.

The clinic employs four physicians. An American expatriate works as a cardiologist and the other three, trained elsewhere in the Caribbean, as general practitioners. Of the nurses employed at the clinic, 60% have been trained locally. The clinic has also served as a training site for University of the West Indies medical residents.



FIGURE 5 - SPARMAN CLINIC RECEPTION AREA (CRED. AUTHORS)

There is a shared six-bed inpatient ward in the two storey clinic, with a private room for individual patients available on the second floor. Signage at the Sparman Clinic is solely in English, and there are no signs or advertisements specifically aimed at medical tourists. A wall of degrees and certificates of the clinic's namesake, Alfred Sparman, are prominently displayed in the central waiting room, but no certificates or training information for other clinic staff is posted. No advertising or personal testimonials are present in the facility or on its grounds, but the clinic does own an ambulance with the company name prominently displayed.

The Sparman Clinic employs a single patient care coordinator who is responsible for coordinating



FIGURE 6 - SPARMAN CLINIC INPATIENT WARD (CRED. AUTHORS)

the care of both local and international patients. While medical tourists have been marketed to by the clinic through its online presence and the clinic is referred to in media and policy documents as a medical tourism site, the vast majority of patients treated are locals and foreign patients experiencing medical emergencies. There are no differences in treatment regimens, accommodations, or staff assignments

between international and local patients, although the care coordinator is available to make booking

arrangements with hotels, airlines, and tour operators if requested by international patients. Local patients also reportedly receive care at a lower cost, although there is no set reduction in rates.

The Sparman Clinic began to market its services to medical tourists in 2008. Although no tracking of medical tourists is performed by clinic's management, it is known that these patients make up a very small share of those treated at the facility. The majority of international patients treated at the facility, including both medical tourists and incidental patients experiencing medical emergencies, are drawn from the United States and South American countries, and a smaller share from the Eastern Caribbean region.



FIGURE 7 - SPARMAN CLINIC OPERATION ROOM (CRED. J. IRELAND)

The Sparman Clinic has not received international accreditation to date, but is reportedly working

with Joint Commission International consultants to prepare the facility for review. This process is currently not near completion.

While the Sparman Clinic has often been associated with medical tourism in news reports on the island, conversations, and government policy documents, it is apparent that it is more accurately involved in treating international patients experiencing cardiac emergencies rather than patients who have intentionally traveled from abroad to the clinic specifically. This confusion was evident in discussions with facility staff who repeatedly conflated elective medical tourism with emergency care for international patients. It is clear that very few international patients are currently traveling to Barbados to receive cardiac care at the Sparman Clinic in spite of its efforts to position itself as a medical tourism destination.

4.3. Island Dialysis

Island Dialysis is a kidney dialysis clinic operating in Barbados that targets its services at vacationing tourists. Although Island Dialysis is not considered to be a medical tourism provider, it is often discussed in policy documents on health and wellness tourism and in news reports on medical tourism in Barbados. While tourists to Barbados may plan their trips with the knowledge that a reputable dialysis provider is available in locally, international patients do not travel to Barbados primarily or solely for the purpose of undergoing dialysis. The inclusion of Island Dialysis in domestic discussions of medical tourism serves to illustrate the lack of clarity surrounding the term and the potential for the conflation of service-types by those planning for the industry.

5. FUTURE MEDICAL TOURISM PLANS

Barbados is looking to further the development of the medical tourism sector in the country through the

creation of supportive incentive for investors, the creation of a medical visa similar to those in India and Malaysia in order to expedite the travel of international patients, and the creation of stronger regulatory frameworks to guarantee the quality of care available in the country (Ministry of Health, 2009;

Invest Barbados, 2010). These steps are being directed by the Health and Wellness



FIGURE 8 - ST. JOSEPH HOSPITAL EXTERIOR (CRED. AUTHORS)

Tourism Task Force and are consistent with the goals and challenges outlined in section 3.3.2 above. In addition to the creation of a medical visa, planners are currently drafting frameworks with which to alter existing legislation for investment in the tourism industry to incentivize the creation of facilities offering medical tourism services (Invest Barbados, 2010).

5.1 St. Joseph Hospital Lease

St. Joseph Hospital was a multi-specialty, private hospital operated by a Catholic order of nuns in the sparsely settled northern area of Barbados on an 22 acre site. It was opened in 1966. The hospital was closed in 1986 because of its unprofitability, and was sold to the Barbadian government in the same year. Since its closure, the government's plans for the hospital site have shifted depending on the political



FIGURE 9 - EMERGENCY INTAKE OF ST. JOSEPH HOSPITAL (CRED. AUTHORS)

party in power - the Democratic Labour Party having moved to unsuccessfully reopen the facility during their period in power between 1986 and 1994. The Barbados Labour Party, which favoured the hospital remaining closed as a way to rationalize public services, came into power in 1995 (Riley-Thornhill, 2010). The facility is currently in complete disrepair following a prolonged period of disuse.

The Minister of Health reported in 2008 that his ministry received "2 to 3 proposals a week" from foreign investors looking to develop the St. Joseph site (Best, 2008). Documentation held by the Research



FIGURE 11 - ST. JOSEPH HOSPITAL INTERIOR (CRED. AUTHORS)

and Planning Unit in the Barbados Ministry of Health confirms that St. Joseph has been the subject of interest from at least 15 international investment groups since its closure. Plans by the government to develop the St. Joseph grounds as a medical tourism site appear to have been pursued seriously following the success of the 2008 Health and Wellness Tourism Seminar. Since then, the government corporation Invest Barbados, an organization whose mandate is to attract foreign investment to Barbados, has sought to attract international investment to the St. Joseph site to develop it as a private hospital oriented towards medical tourism.

The government of Barbados tendered a bid for the revitalization of the St. Joseph site in 2009. Four bids were considered, two of which received attention in the local news media: one by Caribbean American Health Resort Inc. and the other by American World Clinics Barbados. Both of these bids

incorporated a staffing model where the majority of physicians practicing at the facility would be recruited from outside of the country and work part time in Barbados treating international patients at

the facility. While patients would be a mix of private paying Barbadians and medical tourists, the focus of the facility would be on the latter patient group. All other staff would be drawn from the existing Barbadian workforce, including nurses, lab technicians, and other allied health providers. Caribbean American Health Resorts further aimed to couple their development of the St. Joseph site with a USD \$110 million complex with 90 condos



FIGURE 10 - AN OVERHEAD VIEW OF THE PROPOSED FACILITY (© 2012 - AMERICAN WORLD CLINICS)

in the populated southern end of the country, intended as a place for patients and their families to recuperate (Russell, 2010).

The American World Clinics bid was ultimately chosen for the St. Joseph re-development lease. The American-owned company signed a 25 year lease with Barbadian government, with the option to renew for another 25 years upon its completion. The agreement envisions a 50 bed, multi-specialty hospital built on the 22 acre St. Joseph site. The company is currently recruiting international physicians, although Barbadian physicians will be able to practice at the facility (AWC, 2012). News media accounts have touted the training benefits of the facility for Barbadians, with the potential for collaboration between physicians from different training backgrounds (Barbados Advocate, 2011). While the original intent was for the facility to employ only Barbadians for all 200 permanent positions beyond physician staffing, recent reports suggest that nurses in some under-resourced specialties will be imported to meet the needs of the facility (Daily Herald, 2011). The facility was originally slated to break ground in January 2012 and open in early 2014, but undisclosed setbacks have delayed the start of construction.

5.2 The Queen Elizabeth Hospital

Proposed renovation of the public Queen Elizabeth Hospital has been discussed in relation to medical tourism in a number of different venues. Policy documents indicate that either a renovation or full replacement of the facility may be motivated by drawing income from the medical tourism sector (Ministry of Health, 2009). Current considerations include having the hospital built or renovated in line with the standards issued by international accreditation agencies, as well as the potential for an entire international patient ward to be built on the facility grounds to serve as a revenue generator for the public system (Ministry of Health, 2009). While these plans have yet to move beyond the early planning stages, it is significant that the Ministry of Health is considering directly tying the cornerstone of the Barbadian public health care system to the private delivery of care to international patients.

6. CONCLUSION

The medical tourism industry in Barbados is currently very small. There is very little active recruitment of medical tourists to the country outside of the Barbados Fertility Centre, although other specialist clinics are attempting to export their services to the international market. However, the creation of the Health and Wellness Tourism Task Force and its associated activities as well as the large investment plans by the American World Clinics Barbados corporation that have begun to be put into concrete motion both suggest that medical tourism may become a larger issue in the country in coming years.

7. REFERENCES

- Adams PO, Carter AO.(2011). "Are primary care practitioners in Barbados following diabetes care guidelines? a chart audit with comparison between public and private care sectors. BMC Research Notes 4: 199.
- Barbados. (2012a). In *Encyclopaedia Britannica*. Retrieved August 27, 2012 from: http://www.britannica.com/EBchecked/topic/52655/Barbados
- Barbados. (2012b). CIA World Factbook. Retrieved August 27, 2012 from: http://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/geos/bb.html
- Barbados Fertility Centre (BFC). (2012). Our Staff. Retrieved August 27, 2012 from http://www.barbadosivf.com/why-bfc/our-staff/
- Barbados Ministry of Finance. (2008). The Economic and Social Report of Barbados, January to June 2008. Retrieved January 16, 2011 from: www.economicaffairs.gov.bb/download.php?id=190
- Barbados Statistical Service (BSS). (2012). Continuous Household Labour Force Survey October to December 2011 (Provisional Estimate). Barbados Statistical Service Statistical Bulletin Labour Force Survey 4th Quarter 2011. Retrieved August 30, 2012 from: http://www.barstats.gov.bb/files/documents/LFS_Bulletin_4Q2011.pdf.
- Barbados Tourism Authority. (2011). Discover Barbados: Culture and Heritage. Retrieved January 18, 2011 from: http://www.visitbarbados.org/bajan-culture.aspx
- Bayview Hospital. (2012). Facilities and Services. Retrieved August 27, 2012 from: http://www.bayviewhospital.com.bb/facilities.htm
- Best T. (2008). "Big plans for St. Joseph Hospital". The Daily Nation, September 26.
- Brandford A. (2012). "Through the years... the QEH saga." *NationNews.com*. Retrieved August 27, 2012 from: http://www.nationnews.com/index.php?print/index/20642
- Cambell BJ, Kissoon N, Syed N, Fraser HS. (2008). Health Human Resource Planning in Barbados and the Easter Caribbean States a Matter of Sustainability. West Indies Medical Journal, 57(6): 542-548.
- Canadian Trade Commissioner Service. (March 2010). Health Industries Sector Profile Bridgetown, Barbados. Retrieved July 21st, 2010, from: http://www.tradecommissioner.gc.ca/eng/market-report-login.jsp?did=78228&_requestid=162544
- Caribbean Export Development Agency. (2008). Making Health and Wellness Tourism a Reality in the Caribbean: Summary and Conclusions. Retrieved August 27, 2012 from: http://www.caribexport.com/2009/08/health-and-wellness/
- Carter G. (2009). "Docs' hearty trend". The Daily Nation, August 5.
- Central Bank of Barbados. (2007). Barbados Vital Statistics. Retrieved January 16, 2011 from: http://www.centralbank.org.bb/country_info.shtml
- Daily Herald. (2011). "Nurses will be imported for the new private hospital". Daily Herald, Sept 18. Retrieved August 27, 2012 from: http://ww.thedailyherald.com/international/4-international/20774-nurses-will-be-imported-for-new-private-hospital.html
- Daily Nation. (2004). "New private hospital". The Daily Nation, November 29.
- Daily Nation. (2011). "Non-national health care limit". The Daily Nation, April 6.
- D'Silva J. (2007). "Apollo Hospitals on JV path in Barbados, Mauritius, Bahamas." The Wall Street Journal, March 12. [website]. Retrieved August 29, 2012 from:
 - http://www.livemint.com/2007/03/12003443/Apollo-Hospitals-on-JV-path-in.html
- Geralyn E.. (2008). "Ministers Sealy, Estwick to address sessions." The Daily Nation, March 31, p.22.
- Gonzales, A, Brenzel L, Sancho J. (2001). Health Tourism and Related Services: Caribbean Development and International Trade. Document submitted to the Regional Negotiating Machinery (RNM), 31 August. Retrieved August 28, 2012 from:
 - http://www.google.ca/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=1&ved=0CCQQFjAA&url=

- http%3A%2F%2Fwww.crnm.org%2Findex.php%3Foption%3Dcom_docman%26task%3Ddoc_download%26gid%3D182%26Itemid%3D85&ei=V7JAUOWeG6bHiwKvvlGYCg&usg=AFQjCNGBdVV0rJcdY7zU4rdJ6SWur63F0w&sig2=x5Kb2cOz62CSZ7Rnr0vvsQ
- Government Information Service, Barbados. (2009). *Education*. Retrieved January 16, 2011 from http://www.barbados.gov.bb/education.htm
- Hill M. (2006). "The babies who are murdered to order." London Evening Standard, December 15. Retrieved August 27, 2012 from http://www.standard.co.uk/news/the-babies-who-are-murdered-to-order-7195092.html
- Invest Barbados. (2010). Draft Recommendation Paper: Incentives Regime, the Barbados Health and Wellness Sector. Invest Barbados. (Unpublished). Invest Barbados: Bridgetown, Barbados.
- Jamaica Observer. (2012). Barbados still reeling from global economic crisis. Jamaica Observer, July 9. Retrieved August 29, 2012 from: http://www.jamaicaobserver.com/latestnews/barbados-still-reeling-from-global-economic-crisis.
- Ministry of Health (MOH). (2008). Proposal for the Development of Health and Wellness Tourism Industry in Barbados. (Cabinet note) Barbados Ministry of Health: Bridgetown, Barbados..
- Ministry of Health (MOH). (2009). Health and Wellness Tourism Development Task Force: Final Report. Barbados Ministry of Health: Bridgetown, Barbados.
- Ministry of Tourism. (2006). Ministry of Tourism, Annual Tourism Statistical Digest. Barbados Ministry of Tourism. Retrieved January 18, 2011 from http://www.tourism.gov.bb/reports/2006_STATISTICAL_DIGEST.pdf
- Moore RS. (2012). "QEH Upgrade." Barbados Advocate, 13 June. Retrieved August 27, 2012 from http://www.barbadosadvocate.com/newsitem.asp?more=local&NewsID=25276
- Moore T. (2008). "New policy for health tourism." Daily Nation, February 4.
- No Author. (2010). A National Health & Wellness Stakeholders Conference. [Conference proceedings March 17-18, 2010, held in Bridgetown Barbados). (Unpublished).
- Online Medical Tourism. (2012). *The Sparman Clinic*. [website]. Retrieved August 29, 2012 from: http://www.onlinemedicaltourism.com/The-Sparman-Clinic.html
- PAHO. (2001). Barbados Country Health Profile. Retrieved August 27, 2012 from http://www.paho.org/english/sha/prflbar.htm
- PAHO. (2008). Health Systems Profile Barbados: Monitoring and Analyzing Health Systems Change/Reform.

 Retreived July 21st, 2010 from the Pan American Health Organization/ World Health

 Organization website: http://new.paho.org/
- Price S. (2007). "Institute of Regenerative Medicine Closed in Scandal". The Daily Nation, November 26.
- Ramsay A. (2010). "Country has to be a cut above the rest." Barbados Advocate, March 18.
- Riley-Thornhill J. (2010). "Overseas interest in St. Joseph Hospital." The Barbados Advocate, April 4.
- Russell S. (2010). "Big plan for medical tourism." The Daily Nation, January 18.
- Sealy D. (2007). "\$200m hospital likely by 2010." The Daily Nation, March 14.
- Singh R. (2011). "Free' health care for non-nationals." Trinidad Express, Feb 19. Retrieved August 30, 2012 from: http://www.trinidadexpress.com/commentaries/Free-health-care-for-non-nationals-116543933.html
- Slinger T. (2012). "Docs' eyes on Bayview." *NationNews.com*. Retrieved August 27, 2012 from: http://www.nationnews.com/index.php?print/index/4956
- Social Watch. (2007). Social Watch Gender Equity Index: Inequity Persists. Retrieved August 30, 2012 from: http://www.socialwatch.org/node/9370.
- The Queen Elizabeth Hospital (QEH). (2012a). *Hospital Overview*. Retrieved August 27, 2012 from: http://www.qehconnect.com/aboutus/overview/about-overview.php
- The Queen Elizabeth Hospital (QEH). (2012b). Services. Retrieved August 27, 2012 from: http://www.qehconnect.com/services.php

- U.S. Department of State. (2010). Background Note: Barbados. Retrieved January 17, 2011 from: http://www.state.gov/r/pa/ei/bgn/26507.htm
- United Nations Development Programme (UNDP). (2011). Explanatory note on 2011 HDR composite indices: Barbados. In *Human Development Report 2011 Sustainability and Equity: A Better Future for All*. Retrieved August 27, 2012 from: http://hdrstats.undp.org/images/explanations/BRB.pdf
- United Nations Economic and Social Council. (2007). *Policies to promote gender equality and empower women Barbados*. Retrieved January 16, 2011 from: http://webapps01.un.org/nvp/frontend!policy.action?id=135
- United Nations International Human Development Indicators. (n.d.). Barbados: Country profile of human development indicators. Retrieved January 18, 2011 from: http://hdrstats.undp.org/en/countries/profiles/BRB.html#top
- University of the West Indies (UWI) at Cave Hill. (2012). About the FMS. Retrieved August 27, 2012 from: http://www.cavehill.uwi.edu/fms/about_fms.asp
- Walters J, Fraser HS, Alleyne GAO. (1993). "Use by visitors of the services of the Queen Elizabeth Hospital, Barbados, W.I." West Indies Medical Journal 42:13-17.
- World Health Organization (WHO). (2012). Global Health Indicators. In: World Health Statistics 2012. World Health Organization: Geneva. Retrieved August 27, 2012 from: http://www.who.int/healthinfo/EN WHS2012 Part3.pdf
- World Bank. (2012). Barbados Data. Retrieved August 30, 2012 from: http://data.worldbank.org/country/barbados

APPENDIX 1 – CONTENT ANALYSIS OF MEDIA COVERAGE OF MEDICAL TOURISM IN BARBADOS

Medical tourism has featured as a topic of discussion in news stories and editorials over the past five years in the two main Barbadian print news outlets, The Daily Nation and the Barbados Advocate. Most generally, medical tourism has been framed primarily as an economic issue and presented in a positive light. Medical tourism is, however, often conflated with the wider health and wellness tourism industry and has been presented as an economic opportunity well suited to Barbados' location, educated population, and strong existing recreational tourism industry. Health equity concerns surrounding the potential for reduced quality or access to care for local patients have arisen in media discussions and reports on medical tourism. However, these concerns are usually brief acknowledgements of the potential risk for negative health equity outcomes rather than full explorations of the potential negative impacts.

Here we report on the findings of a thorough media content analysis of coverage of medical tourism in Barbados' two national newspapers over the past 5 years. Seventy-three articles were initially gathered in this review. Of these, 21 were deemed most relevant in terms of their coverage of medical tourism, 29 were deemed somewhat relevant, and 23 were deemed minimally relevant by the reviewers. An overview of the media coverage as it relates to the health equity domains explored in the overall study follows. As a reminder, these domains are: (1) impacts on health human resources; (2) government involvement in the industry; (3) foreign investment in the industry; (4) impacts on private health care; and (5) impacts on public health care.

Impacts on Health Human Resources

The potential for medical tourism to have an impact on health human resources was generally portrayed in a positive light in the media accounts reviewed. The specific facilities reported on and medical tourism more generally were often described as attracting highly trained medical specialists to Barbados from other countries or retaining Barbadian health workers (e.g. Barbados Advocate, 2012a; Barbados Advocate, 2011; Carter, 2009; Tudor, 2008). This benefit was regularly described to have compounding positive benefits due to the wider range of skilled health workers available to local patients as well as the subsequent training benefits for local doctors. The potential for the medical tourism industry to improve employment rates for Barbadian nurses was briefly discussed, and tied to recent increases in the number of nurses graduating on the island (Reece, 2008).

Health worker training initiatives within the country were sometimes tied to discussion of a larger medical tourism industry in Barbados. For example, the opening of the medical faculty at the University

of the West Indies' Cave Hill campus was discussed as a supporting factor for the medical tourism sector (Wilson, 2007), as was the graduation of medical transcriptionists intended to meet the needs of the North American transcription market (Barbados Advocate, 2009). The opening of an offshore medical school (i.e., a medical school that primarily trains overseas students) in Barbados was also tied to the medical tourism industry, with discussions of the potential for physicians trained at this school returning to their home countries to practice and referring their patients for private surgery in Barbados (Barbados Advocate, 2012b).

A very small minority of reviewed articles raised any potentially negative issues arising from an expanded medical tourism industry in Barbados in relation to health human resources. Of these, the existing shortage of nurses in the country arose as an issue that was perceived to be not being addressed in planning for the industry (Price, 2009). The potential for medical tourism to incentivize the movement of health workers into the private health system was also raised as an issue (Barrow, 2008), but was also a minority voice amongst the majority of articles that touted the benefits of medical tourism for the country.

The previous Minister of Health, David Estwick, and the current Minister of Tourism, Richard Sealey, have both publicly acknowledged the potential for negative health equity impacts for local patients should medical tourism proceed with poor planning (Best, 2008; Stacey, 2008). The necessity of planning for shifts in the availability of human health resources as the medical tourism sector grows was acknowledged publicly by the Barbados Ministry of Health, but only in the broadest fashion.

Government Involvement in Medical Tourism

The majority of articles discussing the relationship of the Barbadian government to medical tourism reported on efforts by officials to promote Barbados as a medical tourism destination for international patients (e.g. Atwell, 2009; Barbados Advocate, 2012b; Geralyn, 2008). Media coverage of the Barbadian government's efforts in promoting medical tourism have included statements and appearances by ministers at conferences and seminars supporting the drive to develop Barbados' health and wellness tourism sector (Geralyn, 2008; Goodman, 2008). The most common figures representing the governments' positions on medical tourism in the review period were the Ministers of Health, David Estwick and Donville Inniss, and the Minister of Tourism, Richard Sealy.

The current national government, in power since 2008, has been very strong in their support of a larger medical tourism industry in Barbados. This has been signalled by their participation in and hosting of a regional strategic session on health and wellness tourism and their announcement of coordinating

and developing policy in support of medical tourism (Geralyn, 2008; Moore, 2008; Ramsay, 2010). The current government has been described as poised to seamlessly connect the health and tourism sectors (Goodman, 2008). Government support for medical tourism has been tempered by cabinet ministers' public quotes warning against the potential for a poorly designed industry to negatively impact health equity for local patients should the public health sector become involved in exporting health services (Best, 2008; Stacey, 2008).

As a part of the pursuit of health policies supporting the medical tourism sector, the Barbadian government has coordinated the creation of a National Healthcare Quality Council to assist in regulating and improving the standards of quality across the entire health and wellness sector, including previously unregulated professions (Ramsay, 2010). This is to ensure that Barbados establishes and protects its national brand in relation to health and wellness tourism. There have been editorial calls for the government to create more liberal regulatory frameworks around investment and professional accreditation to facilitate the development of the medical tourism industry (Alleyne, 2010; Daily Nation, 2010; Husbands, 2008).

There have been very few reports of the government using public resources to incentivize the growth of the country's medical tourism sector. The only concession that has been reported in the news media has been the government tendering bids amongst international investors to lease a piece of public land that currently hosts St. Joseph Hospital, an old, unused facility, on the terms they establish a new hospital on the grounds (Barbados Advocate, 2008; Barbados Advocate, 2012a). The terms of the lease have not been reported in the news media. However, the news media has captured a shift in the attitude of the current and previous ministers of health towards the lease of this land, a project that has been described as the centre of any expansion of the medical tourism industry in the country. The earlier Minister of Health had stipulated that any successful bid for the site would require co-ownership by the Barbadian government, to ensure the benefits of its development would be shared amongst the local population (Best, 2008). These earlier terms have not been carried through with the current minister, and have not been incorporated into the final lease with American World Clinics.

Regional leaders have also been noted to be supportive of medical tourism in Barbados, including those affiliated with the Caribbean Community (CARICOM) and the Caribbean Export Development Agency. The Canadian Government, in the form of the Canadian Trade Facilitation Office and their High Commissioner to Barbados, have also been supportive the development of a larger medical tourism industry in the country (Moore, 2008). The Canadian Trade Facilitation Office partnered with CARICOM

to deliver the 2008 Health and Wellness Strategy Seminar, while the High Commissioner has only been reported as broadly endorsing the idea of medical tourism (Geralyn, 2008; Moore, 2008).

Foreign Investment

Foreign investment into Barbados' health and wellness sector has been frequently covered by Barbadian news outlets. Reports regarding foreign investment have been restricted to detailing announcements of plans by foreign investors to build facilities in Barbados to primarily serve international patients. Three groups that have been the topic of this coverage are Global Medical Group Inc., Caribbean American Health Resorts, and American World Clinics Barbados. The Global Medical Group Inc. announced broad, sparsely detailed plans in late 2009 to partner with existing surgical clinics and hotels on the island and organize the import of patients to Barbados (Price, 2009). The company announced its intentions to provide private air and ground transportation through their own fleet of airplanes and limousines, serving as a concierge service that would smooth any logistical difficulties of accessing international medical care in Barbados (Barbados Advocate, 2009b). As part of their entire health and wellness package, Global Medical Group Inc. also planned on incorporating 'sports tourism' packages into their offerings, arranging visits for training, recuperation, and physical therapy regimens for athletes (Barbados Advocate, 2009c). While these plans ultimately fell through in 2010, their initiative was perceived as serious enough to have spurred a local hotel to undergo renovations and begin an employment drive to fill 110 new positions in anticipation of the success of the company (Daily Nation, 2010b).

In early 2010, Caribbean American Health Resorts announced plans to develop a USD\$110 million project in the populated south coast of the country. The company's plans were to develop 90 condo units that would serve as private recuperation suites for international patients that had received treatment at a facility to be developed on the former grounds of St. Joseph Hospital (Russell, 2010). The Caribbean American Health Resorts model would see the use of international physicians to treat international patients, with Barbadians supplying nursing and other allied health staff for the operation of the project (Tudor, 2008). In press releases, Caribbean American Health Resorts reported that some physicians affiliated with their project were already accredited to work in Barbados by the Barbados Association of Medical Practitioners (Tudor, 2008). As with the Global Medical Group Inc. project, Caribbean American Health Resorts' plans were thin on practical details and ultimately not approved for development.

American World Clinics Barbados was one of the four companies that submitted bids to an offer tendered by the Barbadian government for the development of the unused and dilapidated St. Joseph

Hospital site in the northern end of the country, and was ultimately successful in its application. The company has proposed to build a multi-speciality, 50 inpatient bed hospital on the St. Joseph site, with international physicians being recruited to serve international patients and Barbadians nurses and other allied health staff recruited to operate the hospital (Barbados Advocate, 2012a; Barbados Advocate, 2011). Barbadian physicians will be able to apply for admitting privileges, and could also potentially operate from this facility (Barbados Advocate, 2011). This plan to import both physicians and patients has parallels to Caribbean American Health Resorts' proposal. The American World Clinics project was originally due to start construction in 2012 and slated to open in 2014; however, the updated timeline has construction beginning in 2013 and the facility operating in 2014 or 2015. The projected economic benefit of the project is thought to be the creation of 230 permanent jobs and USD\$100 million revenue generation annually (Barbados Advocate, 2011).

American World Clinics' successful application marks a turning point for the St. Joseph site, as it has long been a development project on the government's radar. In 2008, the Minister of Health noted the government's hopes to develop the site and the high interest from international investors, remarking that the Ministry of Health received two to three applications a week with proposals to develop the site (Best, 2008). The rationale given by the minister at the time was that the proposals were not pursued due to a lack of clear benefit for the local population (Best, 2008).

Impacts on Private Health Care

Medical tourism has been portrayed as a boon for improved quality and capacity of care in the private sector, primarily through investments in infrastructure but also through the potential for international physicians working in private medical tourism facilities to offer new training opportunities to local physicians in new specialty areas (e.g. Alleyne, 2010b; Carter, 2009; Moore, 2008; Wilson, 2008). The focus of articles in this domain has been on the importation of high-technology equipment and international specialists. Only one article raised this as a negative issue, suggesting that the focus on expensive curative equipment would distract from necessary investments in preventative care, as would the orientation of the private health system towards profitable curative care for foreign patients (Barrow, 2008). Both of these were seen to be a negative impact for local users of the private health system.

The Sparman Clinic and the Barbados Fertility Centre have both been positively reported on in the news (Alleyne, 2010b; Atwell, 2009; Carter, 2009; Carter, 2009b). The increased range of services the two clinics offer the local population have been well received. The tie between the improved range

and quality of services and medical tourism was especially evident in news reporting following the Barbados Fertility Clinic's successful accreditation through Joint Commission International (Alleyne, 2010b).

Impacts on Public Health Care

The great majority of articles did not mention the public health system in relation to medical tourism. A number of articles highlighted the need for any medical tourism development to take the public system into account and ensure its resources and capacity were at the very least protected, and at best, a direct beneficiary of medical tourism efforts (Barrow, 2008; Best, 2008; Stacey, 2008). An example of this was an article detailing the original plans for the St. Joseph site, in which a revitalized private facility would cross-subsidize and provide clinical support for a public geriatric care facility on the same grounds (Best, 2008). One article was outright negative in its assessment of the impacts of medical tourism on the public system, raising the potential for the industry to draw human health resources away from the public system serving locals into the more profitable private facilities treating foreigners (Barrow, 2008).

Suggestions that the Queen Elizabeth Hospital, the island's main public health care facility, should provide care for foreign patients as a route of revenue generation were raised in a very small number of articles (Cumberbatch, 2008; Springer, 2009; Yearwood, 2008). These suggestions were raised in discussions of the facility's upcoming renovations and the possibility of a new facility being developed with international accreditation and the direct provision of care on site to medical tourists in mind.

Other Issues

Medical tourism was overwhelmingly framed in media accounts as a catalyst for economic growth. Employment opportunities, foreign exchange, and infrastructure development were all the primary focus of media coverage in Barbados regarding medical tourism (e.g., Brancker, 2011; Daily Nation, 2009; Wilson, 2008)

Key Points

- Coverage of medical tourism in the Barbadian print news media is generally positive or neutral,
 with very few potentially negative issues being raised.
- Medical tourism is overwhelmingly framed as an economic development issue, centred around reports of potential job creation, infrastructure development, and service sector diversification.

- When framed as a health system issue, the potential for increased training opportunities, health worker immigration, and an expanded range and quality of health services are most commonly focused on.
- Interest by foreign investors in developing medical tourism projects in the country appears to be high. However, the government has been wary in approving projects that do not demonstrate benefit to the local population.
- The former private hospital site that sits on public land, St. Joseph Hospital, is due to undergo development by an American investment group. This hospital will recruit both international and local physicians and will primarily target medical tourists as its patient base.
- Critical accounts of medical tourism, especially in relation to the capacity of the public health system, are largely absent.

References

Alleyne, K. (October 31, 2010). Capitalizing on the health tourism market. Barbados Advocate.

Alleyne, K. (November 5, 2010b). Making strides in the medical tourism field. Barbados Advocate.

Atwell, C. (August 26, 2009). Medical tourism growing. Daily Nation.

Barbados Advocate. (July 7, 2011). Major medical development. Barbados Advocate.

Barbados Advocate. (March 29, 2012a). New life for facility. Barbados Advocate.

Barbados Advocate. (May 15, 2012b). Barbados seeking to become health care capital of the Caribbean. Barbados Advocate.

Barbados Advocate. (January 27, 2009). Knowledge process outsourcing will prove beneficial. Barbados Advocate.

Barbados Advocate. (September 30, 2009b). Medical tourism push. Barbados Advocate.

Barbados Advocate. (September 30, 2009c). New firm to enhance sports tourism product. Barbados Advocate.

Barrow, M. (April 28, 2008). Health tourism and jazz. Daily Nation.

Best, T. (September 26, 2008). Big plans for St. Joseph Hospital. Daily Nation.

Brancker, N. (August 18, 2011). BCCI President: Incentives offered to every sector. Barbados Advocate.

Carter, G. (July 27, 2009). Sparman boosting health tourism with \$20 million clinic. Daily Nation.

Carter, G. (September 7, 2009b). Sparman sees clinic adding to health sector.

Cumberbatch, W. (August 15, 2008). QEH the next Greenland waste? Daily Nation.

Daily Nation. (July 20, 2010). Cheap ways to revive the economy. Daily Nation.

Daily Nation. (January 30, 2010b). Still jobs for 110 at Sandy Bay. Daily Nation.

Daily Nation. (September 3, 2009). Barbados 'ready' to pursue medical tourism. Daily Nation.

Geralyn, G. (March 31, 2008). Ministers Sealy, Estwick, to address sessions. Daily Nation.

Goodman, K. (January 4, 2008). New medical procedure highlights move to health tourism. Barbados Advocate.

Husbands, A. (May 19, 2008). Making a case for health tourism. Daily Nation.

Moore, T. (April 2, 2008). New policy for health tourism. Daily Nation.

Price, S. (October 3, 2009). 100 new jobs at Sandy Bay. Daily Nation.

Ramsay, A. (March 18, 2010). Country has to be a cut above the rest. Barbados Advocate.

Reece, S. (May 19, 2008). Small-scale fitness therapy could work. Daily Nation.

Russell, S. (January 18, 2010). Big plan for medical tourism. Daily Nation.

Springer, M. (December 19, 2009). QEH looking at world standard. Daily Nation.

Stacey, R. (April 2, 2008). Sealy-Home cures first. Daily Nation.

Tudor, C. (January 29, 2008). Barbados in bid to be health tourism centre. Daily Nation.

Wilson, J. (November 9, 2007). UWI's project at Lazaretto gears up. Daily Nation.

Wilson, J. (May 19, 2008). Caribbean ideal for medical tourism. Daily Nation.

Yearwood, T. (July 10, 2008). Britain's Nexus wants to help QEH. Daily Nation.

APPENDIX 2 – NARRATIVE SYNTHESIS OF POLICY DOCUMENTS REGARDING MEDICAL TOURISM IN BARBADOS

Medical tourism has been identified by the Ministries of Health and Tourism as a key industry to develop in the country. Spurred by declines in recreational tourism revenue following the recent global financial crisis, the national government started developing frameworks to assist in guiding policy decisions related to aiding the growth of the Barbadian medical tourism industry. Below is an account of common themes and issues raised in relevant policy documents.

We identified four key policy documents that collectively offer valuable insight into understanding priorities in Barbados' emerging medical tourism industry. The key document created to guide the development of its medical tourism industry is a Health and Wellness Task Force Report, published in 2009 by the Ministry of Health. This document reports on input from stakeholders across a wide range of government ministries and posts. Two notes to the Barbadian cabinet, one in 2008 and 2009, both addressed issues emerging from the development and submission of the Task Force Report and provide some further insights into the creation of medical tourism policies in Barbados. The fourth and final document is a draft of the health tourism investment and incentives framework currently being developed by the Barbadian government corporation, Invest Barbados.

In addition to the four key documents above, the Planning and Research Unit in the Ministry of Health provided access to two folders of documents relating to the country's emergent medical tourism industry. A large number of documents in these folders were unable to be copied and reviewed in detail for inclusion here due to anonymity concerns, but were made available to us for review while on-site. Our notes about these documents augment the four main documents mentioned above.

Impacts on Health Human Resources

Barbadian policymakers have acknowledged Barbados' current health human resources shortages amongst medical specialists and nurses (MOH, 2009). These have been characterized as having been driven primarily by the emigration of health workers from Barbados, and have begun to be addressed through upgrading the intake of local training institutions (MOH, 2009). Medical tourism has been raised solely as a capacity enhancing phenomenon for health human resources in Barbados. A larger medical tourism industry is thought to be an avenue to improve health worker numbers and quality in Barbados through both the retention of locally trained health workers and the recruitment of internationally trained physicians (MOH, 2009). There is no direct discussion of how medical tourism will impact nursing specifically. A greater focus is applied to how the recruitment of internationally trained physicians,

especially for specialties currently unavailable in Barbados, will provide opportunities for collaboration and training (MOH, 2009).

The current incentives government officials are considering offering to medical tourism facilities are relevant to health human resource development in Barbados. Offering tax incentives for training and education to improve the number and skills of Barbadian health workers has been requested by private stakeholders and raised as a likely incentive (Invest Barbados, 2010). Regulatory incentives that would assist physicians looking to temporarily practice or teach in Barbados as well as visas specifically for medical tourists have both been identified as areas for policy reform (Invest Barbados, 2010).

Government Involvement in Medical Tourism

The Barbadian government has noted Malaysia's approach to developing its medical tourism industry, in which the Malaysian Ministry of Health took a leading role in regulating and promoting the country's medical tourism sector (MOH, 2008). This could be perceived as being in conflict with other reports in which the government has expressed its desire that the development of the industry be private sector led (MOH, 2009). The Barbadian Ministry of Health has spearheaded the promotion of medical tourism in the country, leading the Health and Wellness Tourism Development Task Force, an inter-ministerial body whose mandate is to advise on the creation of regulatory frameworks with which to guide the growth of the health and wellness tourism sector, of which medical tourism is a key part (MOH, 2009). The Barbadian government is seeking to play a key role in promoting, regulating, and incentivizing the growth of medical tourism.

With regard to promotion, the Barbadian government is working to raise awareness of health service export from Barbados amongst health providers in the country and on the international market. The government has suggested that it play a role in organizing the creation of a national medical tourism website that could help to create a cohesive Barbadian brand in the sector (MOH, 2009). The Health and Wellness Task Force Report also calls for the Barbadian government to facilitate international connections with journalists and physicians outside the country, so as to raise awareness amongst them of Barbados' growing medical tourism industry and potentially spur the recruitment of patients to the country through favourable coverage or direct physician referrals (MOH, 2009).

The Barbadian government is working to create a regulatory framework with which to oversee the growth of the industry. The Health and Wellness Task Force Report envisions the Barbadian government supporting its medical tourism industry by guaranteeing the provision of high-quality services so as to build and protect the Barbadian brand of health and wellness tourism (MOH, 2009). To achieve

this, the government calls for the creation of two national organizations to oversee the industry. First, a National Health Care Quality Council composed of private providers and government representatives will set quality standards and oversee the delivery of health services in the health and wellness tourism sector, akin to a medical professional organization (MOH, 2009). The National Care Quality Council is envisioned to adopt standards in line with international accreditation agencies and ensure that facilities are offering reputable services (MOH, 2009). Second, a yet unnamed organization will "provide oversight and to facilitate the day to day operations of the [medical tourism] industry" (MOH, 2009, p. 20). This organization is also to be primarily composed of private sector providers, and its distinct role in relation to the National Health Care Quality Council is unclear.

The Barbadian Government has existing plans to improve the health information systems currently monitoring the country's health system (MOH, 2009). The Health and Wellness Task Force Report suggests that the government will work to incorporate any facilities focused on offering medical tourism into the new, emerging health information system to have a complete sense of the country's health system capacity (MOH, 2009). The other core focus of regulatory reform being pursued to encourage the growth of the medical tourism industry is improving the ease with which patients and health professionals can move into the country. India's expedited medical visa has been cited as a model with which Barbados sees merit in adopting. Barbados is now exploring the feasibility of issuing a similar visa that would allow the unobstructed movement of international patients into the country and permit them extended recuperative stays (Invest Barbados, 2010). Similarly, the need to create immigration frameworks that will allow international physicians and other health workers to stay in the country and practice, sometimes temporarily, has also been highlighted as a need related to industry expansion (Invest Barbados, 2010; MOH, 2009).

Finally, the Barbadian government is currently developing a financial incentive framework to encourage international investment in the sector. These financial incentives will be offered through the extension of existing legislation that addresses investment into the country's tourism sector (Invest Barbados, 2010; MOH, 2009). These incentives will focus on waiving import duties for medical equipment and taxes associated with the construction and start-up of companies, including construction and real estate tax. The Health and Wellness Task Force Report also recommends that the government permit the accelerated depreciation of assets for facility equipment that undergo considerable use in their lifetime (MOH, 2009). The draft incentives regime developed by Invest Barbados is consistent with the plans outlined in the Health and Wellness Task Force Report. The draft incentives regime also note requests from the private sector for soft loans or grants from the government to assist in achieving

international accreditation, as well as training incentives to assist in furthering the education of existing health workers and for training new ones (Invest Barbados, 2010).

Foreign Investment

The policy documents discussed the importance of attracting foreign direct investment to the medical tourism sector in Barbados (Invest Barbados, 2010; MOH, 2009). Invest Barbados, a public corporation whose mandate is to attract foreign investment, has been identified as the government body responsible for creating the incentives framework (MOH, 2009). The nature of this incentive framework with regard to foreign investment is detailed above.

Impacts on Private Health Care

In the policy documents, all existing private medical care providers are framed as potential medical tourism sector participants (Invest Barbados, 2010; MOH, 2009). The Sparman Clinic, Barbados Fertility Centre, and the Dialysis Clinic have also been singled out in the Health and Wellness Task Force Report as existing medical tourism providers (MOH, 2009). Both of these instances demonstrate a very wide definition of medical tourism being adopted in the existing policy discussion.

Accreditation of private providers is raised repeatedly in the policy documents. The Health and Wellness Task Force Report notes the success of the Barbados Fertility Centre in achieving Joint Commission International accreditation and the current pursuit of Joint Commission International certification by the Sparman Clinic (MOH, 2009). The Health and Wellness Task Force Report and the cabinet notes also focus on the creation of a National Health Care Quality Council to develop and enforce accreditation standards for health care providers (MOH 2008; MOH, 2009; MOH, 2009b). There is inconsistency in these calls for accreditation, with some phrasing pointing towards the requirement that medical providers seek international accreditations and other suggesting that Barbados will create its own standards, but have them informed by the standards held by existing international accreditors (see MOH, 2009, pg 16; MOH, 2009b, pg 1; MOH 2008, pg 3).

Impacts on Public Health Care

The Queen Elizabeth Hospital is raised as a potential site for future health service exports in the Health and Wellness Task Force Report (MOH, 2009). The recent success of a kidney transplantation at the facility and its strong reputation for cardiac care are both raised as examples of health services that could be provided to international patients in the future (MOH, 2009). The framing of the Queen

Elizabeth Hospital as a potential medical tourism provider is tempered by a recognition that the facility would require major upgrades before effectively attracting medical tourists, especially as international accreditation would be sought (MOH, 2009). These prospective upgrades to meet the expectations of medical tourists are presented as a positive development for local patients, as these patients would benefit from improved quality of care and the revenue generated for the public system (MOH, 2009).

The documents temper their push for Barbados to expand its medical tourism industry with an acknowledgement that a larger sector serving foreign patients may have negative consequences for local patients, and that the industry must be developed with mechanisms to maximize benefits for the local population (MOH, 2008; MOH, 2009). It is notable this equity concern has been raised by the Ministry of Tourism and not the Ministry of Health (MOH, 2008).

Key Points

- Medical tourism policy development in Barbados appears to be being driven by the Ministry of Health, the Ministry of Tourism, and the government corporation Invest Barbados.
- The government describes its role in relation to medical tourism to be that of a regulator and facilitator, not as an investor or provider.
- Financial incentive frameworks used to support the tourism industry are being repurposed and extended to incentivize the growth of medical tourism.
- Accreditation and quality assurance is a major theme in existing policy documents. Implementing
 regulations that require international accreditation, or creating local standards consistent with
 international accreditation, for medical providers is raised repeatedly. The financial incentive
 framework under development is considering measures that would assist providers with obtaining
 accreditation.
- Regulatory incentives, chiefly surrounding easing international patients' and health professionals' visits to Barbados, are being explored to help support the medical tourism industry.
- The government has expressed its desire to see the development of medical tourism be private sector led, although it has also raised the possibility of the public Queen Elizabeth Hospital exporting its services
- The policy documents explicitly acknowledge the potential for inequitable outcomes for the local population if a larger medical tourism industry emerges and is poorly regulated and incentivized.

References

- Invest Barbados. (2010). Draft Recommendation Paper: Incentives Regime, the Barbados Health and Wellness Sector. Invest Barbados. (Unpublished). Invest Barbados: Bridgetown, Barbados.
- Ministry of Health (MOH). (2008). Proposal for the Development of Health and Wellness Tourism Industry in Barbados. (Cabinet note) Barbados Ministry of Health: Bridgetown, Barbados..
- Ministry of Health (MOH). (2009). Health and Wellness Tourism Development Task Force: Final Report. Barbados Ministry of Health: Bridgetown, Barbados.
- Ministry of Health (MOH). (2009b). Health and Wellness Development Task Force Final Draft Report. (Cabinet note). Barbados Ministry of Health: Bridgetown, Barbados.

APPENDIX 3 – SUMMARY OF KEY AGENCIES AND ACTORS INVOLVED IN MEDICAL TOURISM DEVELOPMENT IN BARBADOS

Medical Tourism Providers

Barbados Fertility Clinic

The Barbados Fertility Clinic is Barbados' most well known medical tourism provider. Specializing in fertility treatments, the facility draws 80% of its patient base from outside of the country. The Barbados Fertility Clinic has served as a successful 'proof of concept' for the potential of a larger medical tourism industry in Barbados, having attracted increasing numbers of medical tourists every year since opening in 2004.

Sparman Clinic

The Sparman Clinic is a cardiology clinic that is widely reported to be engaging in medical tourism in media reports and government discussions. While the facility is known to be marketing its elective services to the international market via the Internet, the clinic primarily treats international patients experiencing cardiac emergencies and has had limited success in attracting true medical tourists (i.e., those who travel abroad for the expressed purpose of obtaining private medical care).

Government Ministries and Organizations

Ministry of Health

The Ministry of Health has had two Ministers publicly support the development of medical tourism in Barbados, David Estwick (2008-2008) and Donville Iniss (2009-present). Current policy development undertaken by the Barbadian government is being led by an office in the Ministry of Health, namely the Health Research and Planning Unit, that heads the inter-ministerial Health and Wellness Tourism Development Task Force. While policy documents from the Ministry repeatedly express a desire that the development of medical tourism in the country be 'private sector led', the Ministry has taken a leading role in spearheading the promotion of medical tourism in the country and in developing a regulatory framework with which to guide industry growth.

Ministry of Tourism

The Ministry of Tourism has been a proponent of the development of medical tourism. Since his appointment, Minister Richard Sealy (2008-present) has publicly supported the notion of Barbados developing a larger medical tourism sector. The Ministry is represented on the Health and Wellness Tourism Task Force.

Invest Barbados

Invest Barbados is a publicly owned corporation with a mandate to attract foreign investment to the country. The organization has been involved in the creation of a financial incentives framework with which to bring foreign direct investment to the country's medical tourism sector. Invest Barbados has also been the primary Barbadian organization involved in liaising with the American World Clinics investment group.

Non-National Organizations

Caribbean Export Development Agency

The Caribbean Export Development Agency is affiliated with the Caribbean Community (CARICOM), whose mandate is to promote and coordinate international investment to the Caribbean region and the international export of its goods and services. The Caribbean Export Development Agency has played a role in heightening awareness of health services export in Barbados, helping to co-organize the Health and Wellness Seminar and Strategy Session in 2008 with a Canadian organization, Trade Facilitation Office Canada.

Trade Facilitation Office Canada

Trade Facilitation Office Canada is a Canadian governmental organization that promotes export development to Canada in developing nations. Trade Facilitation Office Canada has assisted the Caribbean Export Development Agency in promoting medical tourism in the Caribbean region, assisting in co-organizing the Health and Wellness Seminar and Strategy Session in Barbados in 2008. Diane Girard was Trade Facilitation Office Canada's representative for this project, and was hired as a private consultant by the government of Barbados in 2010 to deliver a seminar promoting Health and Wellness Tourism to stakeholders in Barbados' industry.

The Medical Tourism Association

The Medical Tourism Association is a non-profit organization based in the United States whose stated aim is to encourage the development of a global medical tourism industry. The Medical Tourism Association has invited Barbados to a number of its annual conferences. These conferences bring national governments, providers, facilitators, and insurers together. Barbados has accepted and sent a contingent to attend twice.

Foreign Investors

American World Clinics Barbados

American World Clinics is an American corporation that is developing a 50 bed hospital in Barbados with the primary purpose of exporting health services to the North American market. The company was successful in securing a 25 year lease on public land in the rural north end of the country where a former multi-speciality private hospital once operated over 20 years ago.

Global Medical Group

The Global Medical Group is one of a number of foreign investors that has sought to develop medical tourism in Barbados that has received media and government attention. The company's bid in 2009 to coordinate the international export of services by existing medical providers on the populated southern coast of the island was rejected by the Barbadian government.

Caribbean American Health Resorts

Caribbean-American Health Resorts submitted an unsuccessful bid in 2009 to develop the St. Joseph hospital grounds into a hospital specializing in medical tourism. The company received positive attention in the Barbadian media when its plans were originally released.

Apollo Hospitals

Apollo Hospitals, an Indian hospital chain known for its well developed medical tourism services, was hired by Edward Healey, an expatriate from Britain who resides in Barbados, to manage the development and ultimately assume operations for a 74 bed multi-specialty hospital on the west coast of the island. Plans for the hospital were never realized, but were actively pursued between 2005-2010.

APPENDIX 4 – MAP OF FORMER, CURRENT, AND PLANNED MEDICAL TOURISM FACILITIES IN BARBADOS

